



Olena Lemishko PhD (Economics),

Associate Professor of the Department of Fiscal Policy and Taxation, National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine 11 Heroiiv Oborony Str., Building 10, Kyiv, 03041, Ukraine elena.lemishko@gmail.com ORCID ID: http://orcid.org/0000-0002-6216-652X

Tax policy tools used to stimulate agriculture: their implementation and effectiveness

Abstract. Tax policy is one of the main ways to implement the fiscal policy of the state, based on the country's socio-economic development. The article provides theoretical understanding of the problems of tax stimulation with regard to the priorities of financial policy at certain stages and formulation of key tasks in establishing, developing and reforming of the tax system and tax policy of Ukraine. The agreement on association between Ukraine and the European Union urges our country to bring its tax legislation closer to tax legislation of the EU. A new mechanism of state support for agricultural producers was introduced on 1 January 2017, which requires an assessment of the impact of fiscal policy tools on stimulation of agriculture and regulation of production processes of the agricultural sector. The author of the article defines the impact of the fiscal policy on agriculture and substantiates the expediency of its further operation. The article describes criteria for the establishment of stimulating influence of taxes on agricultural production, taking into account the experience of leading European countries.

Keywords: Tax Incentive; Agriculture; State Support; Value Added Tax; Fixed Agricultural Tax JEL Classification: H20; H21; H22; Q14

DOI: https://doi.org/10.21003/ea.V167-04

Лемішко О. О.

кандидат економічних наук, доцент кафедри фіскальної політики і оподаткування,

Національний університет біоресурсів і природокористування України, Київ, Україна

Податкова політика стимулювання сільського господарства: інструменти реалізації та їх результативність

Анотація. Одним з основних напрямків здійснення фінансової політики держави, виходячи із завдань соціальноекономічного розвитку, є податкова політика. У статті запропоновано теоретичне розуміння проблем податкової стимуляції відповідно до пріоритетів фінансової політики на певному етапі; визначено основні завдання щодо встановлення, розвитку та реформування податкової системи та податкової політики України. Угода про асоціацію України з Європейським Союзом вимагає наблизити податкове законодавство України до податкового законодавства ЄС. З 1 січня 2017 року запроваджено новий механізм державної підтримки сільськогосподарських товаровиробників, що вимагає оцінки впливу важелів та інструментів фіскальної політики на стимулювання сільського господарства та активне регулювання відтворювальних процесів аграрного сектора. У статті визначено вплив податкової політики на стимулювання сільського господарства, обґрунтовано доцільність її подальшого функціонування та встановлено податкові критерії стимулюючого впливу на сільськогосподарське виробництво.

Ключові слова: податкова пільга; сільське господарство; державна підтримка; податок на додану вартість; фіксований сільськогосподарський податок.

Лемишко Е. А.

кандидат экономических наук, доцент кафедры фискальной политики и налогообложения,

Национальный университет биоресурсов и природопользования Украины, Киев, Украина

Налоговая политика стимулирования сельского хозяйства: инструменты реализации и их результативность

Аннотация. Одним из основных направлений осуществления финансовой политики государства, исходя из задач социально-экономического развития, является налоговая политика. В статье представлено теоретическое понимание проблем налогового стимулирования в соответствии с приоритетами финансовой политики на определенном этапе. Выделены ключевые задачи по созданию, развитию и реформированию налоговой системы и налоговой политики Украины, обозначены налоговые критерии стимулирующего влияния на сельскохозяйственное производство. Ключевые слова: налоговый стимул; сельское хозяйство; государственная поддержка; налог на добавленную стоимость; фиксированный сельскохозяйственный налог.

1. Introduction

Tax policy is one of the main ways to implement the tax policy of the state, based on the country's socio-economic development. To increase the efficiency of agricultural production and profitability of Ukrainian agricultural producers, key fiscal policy tools have been developed, in the framework of state support for the agricultural sector, namely special tax treatment in terms of value added tax and fixed agricultural tax (a single tax of the fourth group since 01 January 2015). The tax incentive has contributed to the improvement of the access to finance in the conditions of the economic crisis, limited budgetary possibilities for significant investments in the development of the agricultural sector of Ukraine and lack of working and fixed capital of agricultural enterprises. Defining the national priorities of Ukraine requires a clear strategy of agricultural development by using the best European and international practices. The principle of fiscal federalism is typical of the tax system in Canada,

and VAT, which was introduced at the federal level, performs a distinct fiscal function. Support for the agricultural sector through tax incentives can be attributed to the European Union, where some member states apply a fixed-rate scheme. The EU has preferential VAT for agriculture and uses the practice of reduced VAT rates for agricultural and food products to stimulate their greater use. The agreement between on association Ukraine and the European Union urges our country to bring its tax legislation closer to tax legislation of the EU. A new mechanism of state support for agricultural producers was introduced on 1 January 2017, which requires an assessment of the impact of fiscal policy tools on stimulation of agriculture and regulation of production processes of the agricultural sector.

2. Brief Literature Review

Theoretical reflections on the problems of tax stimulation with regard to the priorities of financial policy at certain stages and formulation of key tasks in establishing, developing and reforming of the tax system and tax policy of Ukraine are observed in works by prominent scholars such as V. A. Andruschenko (2005) [1], I. A. Lunina (2011) [23], A. M. Sokolovska (2015) [29] and others. Leading Ukrainian scientists, among whom are M. J. Demianenko (2005) [4], V. M. Zhuk (2011) [9], N. M. Malinina (2017) [14], O. O. Nepochatenko (2013) [20], L. D. Tulush (2013) [33] and others, have conducted numerous studies and proved new approaches to the practical aspects of the implementation of tax incentives specific to agricultural production.

The following economists should be distinguished in the world's scientific space: O. Oliynyk-Dunn and R. Zufan (2017) [18] for their research on funding models in the Czech Republic and Ukraine is devoted to the work, M. Soliwoda and J. Paw-lowska-Tyszko (2014) [30] who studied agricultural taxation in Europe and determined key indicators of income tax in agriculture in Poland, B. Hill and D. Blandford (2007) [7] who devoted their research to the processing of tax concessions as tools of agrarian policy. The main postulates of tax incentives introduced by the state were highlighted in the scientific work by the American scholars D. Goldberg (1994) [5] and Surrey S. (1973) [32], while the creation of the fiscal space as a budget reserve in the conditions of economic stability of the country was substantiated in the outstanding works by P. Heller (2005) [6] et al.

Despite the numerous publications and thorough research, the current situation in Ukraine requires new approaches to reforms and formation of optimal tax model based on harmonisation of tax legislation (including the regulation of VAT) adaptive to the norms, standards and rules of the European Union. Also,

it should be noted that we need to further consider the relevant fiscal policy tools and conditions which make it possible to realise a stimulating effect of tax incentives on the functioning of agricultural entities.

3. Purpose

The purpose of the article is to define the impact of the fiscal policy on stimulation of agriculture, to justify its further functioning and to establish criteria for tax incentive effects on agricultural production.

The authors of the article used the system and structural method to identify the impact of fiscal policy on the efficiency of agriculture, along with tabular, graphical and statistical methods to conduct economic research. Legislative acts relating to taxation in Ukraine, accounting data from the Ministry of Agrarian Policy and Food of Ukraine, the State Statistics Service of Ukraine, the State Treasury Service of Ukraine, the State Fiscal Service of Ukraine, and the results of own research constituted the information basis of the present research.

4. Results

It has been found that tax preferences for agriculture had a positive effect, which manifested itself in an increase in economic activity of agricultural enterprises and increased the level of profitability. Yet, for almost twenty years (from 1998 to 2017), tax incentives for agriculture have been neglected, with the relevant mechanisms and tools being distorted. Therefore, it is necessity to bring the institutional basis of the agrarian policy and legislative framework of tax policy up to date.

Considering the specificity of agricultural production, it has been suggested to distribute agricultural producers into three groups. The first group includes agricultural producers cultivate from 100 to 200 hectares of agricultural land. It is best to use a single tax for this group. Agricultural enterprises that constitute the second group cultivate from 200 to 500 hectares of agricultural land. These should be taxed by the general taxation system valid in the country, taking into account the European experience and reducing the VAT rate from 20% to 7%. The same is with large companies, which form the third group of enterprises cultivating more than 500 hectares of agricultural land. The proposed measures will help to disclose the potential of agriculture, increase its efficiency and gradually adapt to European agricultural policies, which will have a positive impact not only on the agricultural sector, but also on the economy of Ukraine.

The structure of the state support for agriculture is an analytical basis in the development of the fiscal policy to stimulate agricultural growth and development, considering the current situation in the market and specifics of the economic development of the agricultural sector. It is important to determine the optimal value of each element of the structure of state support and use more comprehensive approaches to tax privileges, choosing the most effective of them according to the needs of economic entities of the agricultural sector. The structure of state support for agriculture in Ukraine in the period of 2007-2016 (Figure 1) was as follows. The tax incentives in 2007 were minimal and accounted for only 27.2% of the total state support for farmers. In 2008, it was 43%. Since 2009, the volume of financial resources relating to the accumulation of funds obtained from VAT on the special accounts for own needs of agricultural producers has had a strong trend toward increasing annually and reached almost 100% (97.7%) of the total amount of state support in 2014, replacing budget subsidies for the development of livestock and crop production.

Thus, in 2014 the state support for agriculture through VAT amounted to UAH 8,970.7 million, while UAH 206.6 million was available as budgetary subsidies (Figure 2). In 2015, the main tax incentive was indirect state support for agricultural producers at the expense of special VAT treatment of activities in agriculture, forestry, and fishery, the total size of which reached UAH 46.0 billion. In 2016, VAT accumulation was only UAH 6.7 billion.



State support of agriculture at the expense of VAT for support of crop production, %

State support of agriculture at the expense of VAT for livestock development, %

Note: Since 01 January 2015 a single tax of the fourth group of agricultural manufacturers with their share in agricultural production amounting or exceeding 75% during the previous fiscal year

Fig. 1: The structure of the state support for agriculture in 2007-2015, and 2016 Source: Compiled by the authors based on [8; 15]





This trend is explained by limited financial resources for direct state support, as well as by financial instability of commercial banks for targeted assistance to the agricultural sector.

In such a situation, the problem was the payment of direct subsidies from the budget under the terms of financial support for the agricultural sector which belonged to so-called «unsecured expenses» of the state budget (hence, their funding may be modified (usually reduced) during the year). For example, the analysis of expenses of Development Programme of the Ukrainian Rural Territories Till 2015 for the years 2008-2012 in the Field of Agricultural Market showed that the programme of financial support of agribusiness has been financed only by 30%) [11]. A retrospective analysis of changes in state support for agriculture through VAT (in absolute terms) for the period of 2007 - 2016 (Figure 2) shows a substantial increase - from UAH 0.96 billion in 2007 to UAH 46.00 billion in 2015.

An almost twofold increase in the profitability of the entire agricultural sector (from 15.1% in 2007 to 29.5% in 2015) demonstrates a positive impact of tax incentives implemented by the state to enhance financial potential of agricultural enterprises. The accumulation of VAT on a special bank account for further use of such funds by agricultural entities may be considered the most effective form of indirect state support for agricultural enterprises. Yet, the shift from comprehensive state support for the agricultural sector towards indirect incentives through tax preferences did not bring expected results for the following rea-

that came into force in 2014 significantly complicated the administration of the abovementioned tax. In addition, VAT refunds were non-transparent in some cases. Here, we should also consider corruption and abuses of off trade financial and business transactions, as well as an unjustified increase in VAT credit. Thus, 17.046 thousand agricultural enterprises received UAH 82.861 billion in 2014, with 1,369 of these companies having lands in cultivation and employees, which means that they wrongly received UAH 2.853 billion of tax credit. In fact, 81 prejudicial investigations were initiated, resulting in calculations of the amount of economic loss of the state amounting to UAH 1,133,000,000 UAH [21]. On the basis of foregoing information, we conclude that the current system of tax incentives has lost its effectiveness and relevance through the special VAT regime and requires structural changes and optimisation of the legal, institutional and financial fields. There is a need to move from quantitative support of agricultural sector to qualitative changes.

The fixed agricultural tax (FAT), which was introduced under the special regime of direct taxation, is another tool to provide tax incentives for the agricultural sector. Its rate is fixed for a certain time. FAT is collected from a unit of land area as a percentage of the normative monetary value. The tax re-

placed the 12 taxes and obligatory payments, including the company income tax, land fee, motor vehicle duty, duty for compulsory social insurance, fee for compulsory retirement insurance and others. The stimulating function of the fixed agricultural tax is that a direct dependence between an increase in agricultural production and an increase in tax payments is not observed. The simplified tax has been guaranteed by the Law No. 320-XIV «On the Fixed Agricultural Tax» as of 17 December 1999 [10]. Considering the limitations established by the law, payers of the fixed agricultural tax are agricultural producers, whose share of agricultural production for the previous tax (financial) year equalled or exceeded 75%. According to experts estimates, the aforementioned tax incentive for agriculture significantly reduced the tax burden on manufacturers of the industry to the level of 3-4 kopiykas per one Ukrainian hryvnia (UAH) of income [34].

However, according to Law of Ukraine «On Amendments of the Tax Code of Ukraine and Some Other Legislative Acts of Ukraine on Tax Reform», FAT formally lapsed because of the simplified system of taxation on 01 January 2015 [23]. Due to the clarity of the tax base and increasing rates of single tax of the 4th group, the tax burden on farms increased by 21 times in 2015, as compared to the year 2005. In 2016, the single tax rate for agricultural enterprises increased again [25; 36]. On the basis of analytical data (Table 1), we can make the following conclusions. In 2014, the sales earnings of farms increased by 4.06 times, if compared with the year 2007, and

sons. Firstly, due to the inefficient use of regulatory function of tax incentives through special treatment for VAT for farmers. The fiscal pressure on the state budget increased, which is lead to debts in VAT refunds in agricultural production and to a reduction in purchasing prices for agricultural products. That, in turn, lowered investment incentives for investors and farms.

Secondly, the changes in the tax legislation

Tab. 1: Realisation of tax policy to stimulate agricultural growth and development via
the fixed agricultural tax

		Years				2016/
Index	2007	2014	2015	2016	2007,	2007,
Tax burden from sales income, %	0.28	0.10	0.61	0.85	-0.18	0.57
Tax burden from incomes, %	1.94	0.57	1.98	3.91	-1.37	0.04
Tax burden from index of assets, %	0.15	0.03	0.29	0.23	-0.12	0.14
Share of FAT of costs of agricultural enterprises, %	0.32	0.08	0.89	1.08	-0.24	0.76
FAT per 1 hectare of agricultural land, UAH	6.27	5.98	98.51	170.68	-0.29	164.41
Tax value per 1 hectare, %	5.83	1.27	12.51	16.95	-4.56	11.12
Tax value per 1 hectare, %	41.14	11.67	40.67	81.07	-29.47	39.93
Volume of FAT of to the amount of assets per 1 hectare, %	3.17	0.64	6.06	4,78	-2.53	1.61

Note: Since 01 January 2015 a single tax of the fourth group of agricultural manufacturers with their share in agricultural production amounting or exceeding 75% during the previous fiscal year

Source: Compiled by the author based on [8; 15; 31]

the amount of paid FAT was 0.92 times higher. There was a significant increase in the tax volume of agricultural products sold in 2016 comparing with 2007.

Accordingly, the tax burden from the income rate also increased, which worsened the financial condition of agricultural enterprises. A higher tax burden means a loss of the exogenous source of capital, which negatively affects the property status of the company.

We agree with Ukrainian agricultural researches who argue that the fixed agricultural tax has not been optimised for a long time in terms of its compliance to the current economic conditions in the agricultural sector of Ukraine and the country's economy [35]. Yet, the transformation of FAT into the single tax of the fourth group and a significant reduction in the stimulating function of the tax is impossible within one calendar year. Therefore, a significant reduction in tax preferences for agricultural enterprises should be balanced by the provision of subsidies. Advantages and disadvantages of the tax policy aimed at stimulating the agricultural sector are presented in Table 2.

In order to take full advantage of the fiscal policy aimed at stimulating agriculture, it is essential to conduct a balanced tax reform to optimise the financial condition of agricultural enterprises, as well as financial and economic security of entities operating in the agricultural sector. Options for the concept reforming the system of preferential VAT for agricultural entities are presented in Table 3.

5. Conclusions

Our research has proved that tax preferences for agriculture have a positive impact, especially in terms of economic activity of agricultural enterprises and level of profitability. Yet, for almost twenty years (from 1998 to 2017), tax incentives for agriculture have been neglected, with the relevant mechanisms and tools being distorted. We believe that the institutional basis of the agricultural policy and legislation related to Ukraine's fiscal policy should be improved. The vector of Ukraine's development being aimed at European integration, our country has successfully diversified export flows and become a full partner in the European food market. In the near future, the agricultural policy of Ukraine should be fully adapted to the mechanism of the European agricultural policy. In relation to this, it is necessary to work out a program of development of the agricultural sector for the next three years, with special attention paid to the issues of public regulation and state incentives for agricultural development. The measures undertaken with regard to the program should be both stable and flexible.

Tax	Advantages	Disadvantages
Fixed agricultural tax, further replaced by a single tax.	Simplified mechanism of tax calculation and payment (due to be paid in four taxes and fees); its payment procedure is adapted to the specificity of agricultural production, which is seasonality; no restrictions on enterprise activity (within the limits set by the law); reduction of the tax burden and accumulation of additional financial resources by the taxpayer.	Limitation of the income (income from sales of own-produced agricultural products for the previous year should be no less than 75% of the total income); independence of the final result, which means that the tax is paid regardless positive or negative business results; calculations of the FAT are applied to the tax office according to both the location of the enterprise and the location of each cultivated land area; lack of connection between the amount of tax and financial condition of enterprises; if the income from non-agricultural activities exceeds 25% of the payer's gross income, the enterprise is transferred to the general taxation system starting from next year with grounds for illegal tax evasion to the budget of the tax revenue from the sale of non-agricultural products and products of other manufacturers within the current year.
Special VAT incentives.	The most effective form of indirect support of agricultural enterprises from the part of the state; accumulation of VAT on a special bank account with the aim of using such funds as a tax credit for production purposes to optimise financial condition of agricultural groups and improve fiscal stability.	Inefficient use of the regulatory function with a significant increase in agricultural production leading to increased fiscal pressure on the state budget, causing debt in VAT refunds, reduction in purchase prices for agricultural products and lower investment incentives for investors and farms; problems of tax administration; lack of transparency in VAT refunding; corruption and other abuses, including nontrade financial and business transactions and unjustified overrating of VAT credit.
Provision of general VAT for agriculture.	Harmonisation of tax legislation with the legislation of the EU (adaptation of special VAT regime according to the EU standards).	Increase in the tax burden on farms and reduction in additional investment resources to promote production development; establishment of new rules of taxation leads to higher production costs and raising prices for agricultural products in the domestic market.

Tab. 2: Advantages and disadvantages of realization of the tax policy for agriculture stimulation

Source: Compiled by the author based on [2; 3; 9; 13; 22; 27-28; 33; 35]

Tab. 3: Tax criteria in terms of the stimulating effect of the system of privileged VAT for agricultural entities

Essence of the reform	Advantages	Disadvantages			
Complete abolition of preferential VAT.	Revenues to the state budget will increase by UAH 10.6 billion in 2017, compared to the year 2016.	GDP in 2017 will decrease by 0.76%; agricultural production will decrease by 6.2%, including by 3.4% in crop production and by 12.6% in livestock production.			
Total VAT reimbursement to agricultural entities.	GDP growth by 0.46%; agricultural production will increase by 3.7%, of which 5.1% will be in crop production and 0.7% will be in livestock production; an increase in agricultural entities' working capital; a reduction in production costs and an increase in the attractiveness of the industry.				
Partial VAT reimbursement to agricultural entities (special VAT regime is retained for certain categories of agricultural producers, particularly for livestock, fruit and vegetable producers and for producers of sugar beet).	An increase in revenues to the budget is expected to reach UAH 5.7 billion; an increase in agricultural production is expected to reach 0.6% (0.5% in crop production and 0.7% in livestock production).	None,			
Special regime of VAT is cancelled; a 7% decrease in the VAT rate to for food and materials for its production.	cial regime of VAT is cancelled; The budget may receive additional UAH 5.6 6 decrease in the VAT rate to for billion;				

Source: Compiled by the authors based on [16; 19]

The goal of the fiscal policy is to promote economic growth and increase revenues to the budget. At the same time, economic growth is not possible without increasing the economic potential of business entities, since fiscal policy tools should be aimed increasing business entities' economic efficiency. It is necessary to consider that the profit tax reduces the endogenous source of own capital and, accordingly, constraints financial stability and financial independence. Therefore, a performance of the main goal of tax policy requires optimum interaction between fiscal tools and stimulating incentives.

Limitation of tax preferences for the agricultural sector should be compensated by direct financial support from the part of the state through public funding programs that encourage the development of agriculture. The amount of such funding supplements the funding of equities, which provides incentives related to the accumulation of capital and development of agricultural enterprises. Considering the specificity of agricultural production, it has been suggested to distribute agricultural producers into three groups. The first group includes agricultural producers cultivate from 100 to 200 hectares of agricultural land. It is best to use a single tax for this group. Agricultural enterprises that constitute the second group cultivate from 200 to 500 hectares of agricultural land. These should be taxed by the general taxation system valid in the country, taking into account the European experience and reducing the VAT rate from 20% to 7%. The same is with large companies, which form the third group of enterprises cultivating more than 500 hectares of agricultural land. Another option for agricultural entities forming the second group is to supplement the general system of taxation (including the 20% VAT rate) with the budget subsidy measures, based on direct budgetary subsidies accounting for 1.5-2.5% of gross agricultural production. The proposed measures will help to unleash the potential of agriculture, to increase its efficiency and to gradually adapt it to the European agricultural policy. All this will have a positive impact on both the agricultural sector of Ukraine and the country's economy.

References

1. Andruschenko, V. A., & Liashenko, V. I. (2005). Economic and non-economic aspects of taxation. Finansy Ukrainy (Finance of Ukraine), 1, 36-43 (in Ukr.). Betlii, O. (2014). VAT in agriculture: Ukrainian realities and international experience. Retrieved from http://www.apd-ukraine.de/images/APD_ APR_07-2014_VAT_in_agriculture_ukr.pdf (in Ukr.)
Holyshevska, L. V., & Kravchiuk, V. P. (2010). Features of the fixed agricultural tax: its advantages and disadvantages. Retrieved from http://www.rusnauka.com/6_ NITSB_2010/Economics/59907.doc.htm (in Ukr.)

Demianenko, M. Ya., & Ivanna, F. V. (2005). The state of state financial support for agriculture. Kyiv: Institute of Agrarian Economics NSC (in Ukr.).
Goldberg, D. S. (1994) Tax Subsidies: One Time vs. Periodic. An Economic Analysis of the Tax Policy Alternatives. Tax Law Review, 49, 305-347. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.law.umaryland.edu/fac_pubs/401

6. Heller, P. (2005). Understanding fiscal space. IMF Policy Discussion Paper, 5(4), 1-19. Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/pdp/2005/pdp04.pdf 7. Berkeley, H. & Blandford, D. (2007). Taxation Concessions As Instruments Of Agricultural Policy. *The Agricultural Economics Society's 81st Annual Conference, 2-4 April 2007*, University of Reading, UK. Retrieved from http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/7976/1/cp07hi01.pdf

8. State Treasury Service of Ukraine (2017). Official web-site. Retrieved from http://www.treasury.gov.ua (in Ukr.)

Zhuk, V. M. (2011). Public Finances and Infrastructure Issues of Economic Development. *Finansy Ukrainy (Finance of Ukraine)*, 7, 33-42 (in Ukr.).
Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2008). *Law of Ukraine «On the Fixed Agricultural Tax», as of 17 December 1998, No. 320-14.* Retrieved from http://zakon.rada.

gov.ua/gj-bin/laws/main.cgi?nreg=320-14 (in Ukr.) 11. Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2015). Report on the results of the audit of the effectiveness of the use of state budget funds aimed at implementing the State target program for the development of Ukrainian villages for the period up to 2015. Retrieved from http://www.ac-rada.gov.ua/doccatalog/document/16747613/

Bul_rozy_ukr_sel.pdf (in Ukr.) 12. Lunina, I. O. (2011). Public Finances and Infrastructure Issues of Economic Development. *Ekonomika Ukrainy (Economy of Ukraine), 8,* 46-56 (in Ukr.). 13. Lupenko, Yu. O., & Tulush, L. D. (2013). Strategic directions of tax regulation of the agrarian sector of Ukraine's economy for the period up to 2020. Kyiv: Institute of Agrarian Economics NSC (in Ukr.).

14. Malinina, N. M. (2017). Directions of codification of the simplified system of taxation of entrepreneurial activity in agriculture. Agrosvit, 15-16, 36-42 (in Ukr.).

 Ministry of Agrarian Policy and Food of Ukraine (2017). Official web-site. Retrieved from http://www.minagro.gov.ua (in Ukr.)
Ministry of Economic Development and Trade of Ukraine (2016). The Ministry of Economic Development has analyzed four options for reforming the system of preferential VAT payment for agrarians. Retrieved from http://agravery.com/uk/posts/show/minekonomrozvitku-rozgladae-4-varianti 17. Ministry of Finances of Ukraine (2017). Official web-site. Retrieved from http://www.minfin.gov.ua (in Ukr.)
18. Oliynyk-Dunn, O., Adamenko, V, & Žufan, P. A. (2017). Comparative Analysis of Debt Financing Models in Czech and Ukrainian Agricultural Enterprises.

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae et Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunensis, 65(5), 1729-1739. doi: https://doi.org/10.11118/actaun201765051729 19. OMP Law Firm (2016). The mechanism of VAT collection from producers: Changes-2016. Retrieved from: http://omp.com.ua/ua/presscenter/ publications/mehanizm_spravlyannya_pdv_z_agrovirobnikiv:_zmini-2016 (in Ukr.)

Nepochatenko O. O., Borovyk P. M., & Umanets, M. M. (2013). Taxation of agricultural producers and ways to its improving. Sustainable Development of the Economy. *Vseukrainskyi vyrobnych-naukovyi zhurnal (All-Ukrainian Scientific and Production Magazine),* 1(18), 39-47 (in Ukr.).
Tax Reality in the AIC or as the old system was destroyed and the new one was forgotten (2016). Retrieved from https://agropolit.com/spetsproekty/155-podatkova-realnist-v-apk-stara-sistema-znischena--pro-novu-zabuli (in Ukr.)

Pravliuk, O. L. (2009). Methods, levers and instruments of financial policy in the agrarian sector of the economy. *Visnyk sumskoho natsionalnoho ahrarnoho universitetu (Scientific and Methodological Journal of Sumy National Agrarian University), 2,* 119-127 (in Ukr).
Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2010). *The Tax Code of Ukraine*. Law of Ukraine. Retrieved from http://zakon2.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/2755-17 (in Ukr.)

Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2014). On Amendments to the Tax Code of Ukraine and Some Other Legislative Acts of Ukraine on Tax Reform. Retrieved from http://zakon0.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/71-19 (in Ukr.)
Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2015). On amendments to the Tax Code of Ukraine and Some Other Legislative Acts of Ukraine on Ensuring the Balance of

Budget Revenues in 2016. Retrieved from http://zakon0.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/909-19/page (in Ukr.)
Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine (2015). The Strategy for Sustainable Development of Ukraine until 2020. Retrieved from http://zakon1.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/5/2015#n10 (in Ukr.)

27. DT.UA (2016, September 4). The abolition of the special VAT regime for farmers will negatively affect the development of small and medium-sized agribusiness. Retrieved from http://dt.ua/ECONOMICS/skasuvannya-specrezhimu-pdv-dlya-agrariyiv-negativno-vpline-na-rozvitok-malogo-i-serednogo-agrobiznesu-ekspert-217926_.html (in Ukr.)

28. Slatvinska, M. O. (2010). Theoretical Foundations of Alternative Taxation Systems. Retrieved from http://dspace.oneu.edu.ua/jspui/handle/123456789/1348 (in Ukr.)

29. Sokolovska, A. M. (2015). The concept of liberal tax reform: feasibility and possibility of realization in Ukraine. Finansy Ukrainy (Finance of Ukraine), 12, 12-31 (in Ukr.).

Soliwoda, M., & Pawlowska-Tyszko, J. (2014). Agricultural taxation in Poland vs. solutions in selected EU countries. Economic Science for Rural Development, 33(103), 99-107. Retrieved from http://llufb.llu.lv/conference/economic_science_rural/2014/ESRD_33_2014_Finance_Taxes-99-107.pdf
State Statistics Service of Ukraine (2017). Statistical Yearbook of Ukraine: Collection. Retrieved from http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua (in Ukr.)
Surrey, S. (1973). Pathways to tax reform: the concept of tax expenditures. Harvard University Press.

33. Tulush, L. (2014). Tax regulation of development of agro-industrial production: state and prospects. Retrieved from http://sophus.at.ua/publ/2014_04_17_18_ kampodilsk/sekcija_7_2014_04_17_18/podatkove_reguljuvannja_rozvitku_agropromislovogo_virobnictva_stan_ta_perspektivi/57-1-0-937 (in Ukr.) 34. Tulush, L. D. (2008). The development of the system of taxation of agricultural commodity producers in the conditions of Ukraine's membership in the WTO.

Retrieved from http://magazine.faaf.org.ua/rozvitok-sistemi-opodatkuvannya-silskogospodarskih-tovarovirobnikiv-v-umovah-chlenstva-ukraini-v-sot.html (in Ukr.)

35. Haruta, S. V., & Borovyk, P. M. (2009). Disadvantages of Special Regime for Direct Taxation of Agricultural Producers. Retrieved from http://intkonf.org/ haruta-sv-borovik-pm-nedoliki-spetsrezhimu-pryamogo-opodatkuvannya-silskogospodarskih-tovarovirobnikiv (in Ukr.)

36. Epravda (2016). «Do the oxen low when mangears are full?». The truth about tax breaks for agrarians. Retrieved from http://www.epravda.com.ua/ columns/2016/02/17/581939 (in Ukr.)